
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
----------------------------------------x 
ANO Hockey Club Metallurg Magnitogorsk,  06 Civ. 9936 
 
 

Plaintiff,   ECF CASE 
 
 

-against-      COMPLAINT
 
 
National Hockey League and Lemieux  
Group L.P. d/b/a Pittsburgh Penguins, 
 

 
Defendants. 

----------------------------------------x 
 
 

Plaintiff, by its attorney, Alexander Berkovich, 

as and for its Complaint herein, alleges as follows: 

 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. Jurisdiction of this Court is founded upon 28 

U.S.C. §1332 based upon diversity of citizenship of all parties 

and the amount in controversy, exclusive of interest and costs, 

exceeding the sum of seventy-five thousand dollars ($75,000).  

Jurisdiction of this Court is also founded upon 28 U.S.C. §1331 

based upon federal question under §1 of the Sherman Antitrust 

Act, 15 U.S.C §1, and §2 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. §15. 

 

2. The venue in this action is proper in the Southern 

District of New York pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391(a)(1),  

§1391(a)(2), §1391(a)(3), §1391(b) and §1391(c). 



 
2 

PARTIES 

3. Plaintiff ANO Hockey Club Metallurg Magnitogorsk 

(“HC Metallurg”), is a professional hockey club, with its 

principal place of business in Magnotogorsk, Russia.  HC 

Metallurg, among other things, fields a team that is a member 

(and most recently, 1999 and 2001 champion) of the Russian “Super 

League”, the highest level of hockey in Russia.  NC Metallurg is 

also a winner of two European Hockey League championships (1999, 

2000).  HC Metallurg has won 2005-2006 the Russian “Super League” 

regular season unprecedented 29 points ahead of the second place 

finisher.  

 

4. Upon information and belief, defendant National 

Hockey League (“NHL”) is a principal professional hockey league 

in North America with its principal offices and place of business 

located in New York City, New York County. 

 

5. Upon information and belief, defendant Lemieux 

Group L.P. d/b/a Pittsburgh Penguins holds a franchise from the 

NHL to operate a professional hockey team Pittsburgh Penguins.  

Pittsburgh Penguins is a professional hockey club and a member of 

the NHL.  Upon information and belief, defendant Pittsburgh 

Penguins is continuously doing business in New York City, New 

York County. 

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/European_Hockey_League
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FACTS APPLICABLE TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

 

Plaintiff’s Contract with Evgeny  Malkin 

6. Evgeny Malkin is a citizen of the Russian 

Federation and a resident of Magnitogorsk, Russia. 

 

7. Evgeny Malkin was developed through youth hockey 

system in Russia.   

 

8. Evgeny Malkin has been playing professional hockey 

for HC Metallurg since 2003 under five-year contract commencing 

on May 1, 2003 through April 30, 2008 (“First Contract”).   

 

9. On August 7, 2006, Evgeny Malkin and HC Metallurg 

have entered into a new one-year Professional Hockey Player’s 

Contract for 2006/2007 season through April 30, 2007 

(“Contract”), which Contract was entered into in compliance with 

all the requirements of the laws of Russia.  The Contract 

provided for the compensation to Malkin in the amount of at least 

three million four hundred fifty thousand ($3,450,000.00) 

dollars. 
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10. The Contract was negotiated by and signed in 

presence of Malkin’s Russian agent and his parents. 

11. The Contract was of a great benefit to Malkin in 

that under the Contract he would become a free agent a year 

earlier than under the First Contract and Malkin’s compensation 

under the Contract in the amount of at least three million four 

hundred fifty thousand ($3,450,000.00) dollars was considerably 

higher than under the First Contract. 

 

12. The Contract was registered according to the 

requirements of the Regulations of the Men’s Russian Ice Hockey 

Championships.  

 

13. Evgeny Malkin is a hockey superstar and a player 

of unique talent.   

 

14. Evgeny Malkin was selected by Pittsburgh Penguins 

in the first round, as 2dth overall pick, in the 2004 NHL draft. 

Evgeny Malkin represented Russia at 2006 Winter Olympics, at the 

2005 and 2006 World Championships and at 2005 and 2006 World 

Junior Championships.  Evgeny Malkin was named the best forward 

and an all-star at 2006 World Junior Championships. 
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15. On or about August 12, 2006, Malkin without any 

authorization from HC Metallurg left HC Metallurg’s squad at the 

Helsinki, Finland airport, in which city HC Metallurg had a 

scheduled pre-season game, and, upon information and belief, 

flew to the United States.   

 

Defendants’ Tortious Interference with HC Metallurg’s Contract 
 

16. As alleged herein, the defendants knew and should 

have known that Malkin was under contractual obligations to HC 

Metallurg when defendants acted in regard to Malkin.   

 

  17. Since September 1, 2006, defendants were notified 

by HC Metallurg on numerous occasions that Malkin was under valid 

contract with HC Metallurg through the conclusion of 2006-2007 

hockey season, that HC Metallurg had the exclusive rights to 

Malkin’s services during the 2006-2007 hockey season, that 

“resignation” under the Russian Labor Law did not apply to 

professional athletes, that rather, under applicable Russian 

Sports Law, professional athletes’ contracts are in effect until 

expiration of their term, that transfer of professional athletes 

to other sports clubs, in Russia or abroad, prior to expiration 

of the contract’s term requires consent of the Russian club (HC 

Metallurg in this case) and that entering into and even 
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negotiating NHL contract with Malkin constitutes blatant and 

deliberate tampering and interference with HC Metallurg’s 

contract with Malkin, and Metallurg’s rights thereunder.   

Since September 1, 2006, HC Metallurg, on numerous occasions, 

also demanded from defendants NHL and Pittsburgh Penguins that 

they immediately cease and desist from any negotiations with 

Malkin and from entering into any contracts with Malkin, and that 

the NHL immediately cease and desist from registering Malkin’s 

NHL contract with Pittsburgh Penguins.   

 

18. The notices referred to in paragraph 17 herein 

notwithstanding, defendants induced and continue to induce 

Malkin into breaching his Contract with HC Metallurg and 

business relationship with HC Metallurg, and, upon information 

and belief, in September 2006, Pittsburgh Penguins entered into 

contract with Malkin, which contract, upon information and 

belief, have been registered by NHL. 

 

  19. Independent of the plaintiff’s notices, defendants 

knew well before entering into NHL contract with Evgeny Malkin 

that Evgeny Malkin was under contract with HC Metallurg for 2006-

2007 season. 
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Defendants’ Unlawful Scheme in Violation of Antitrust Laws 
 

20. For a number of years, prior to 2004, NHL and 

International Ice Hockey Federation (“IIHF”) were parties to a 

general agreement regarding transfer of European players to NHL 

clubs (“Old NHL-IIHF Agreement”), to which agreement the Russian 

Ice Hockey Federation was a signatory.   

 

21. The Old NHL-IIHF Agreement expired in September 

2004.  Upon information and belief, because the 2004-2005 NHL 

season was cancelled due to the lock-out, the Old NHL-IIHF 

Agreement was not extended.   

 

22. The new two-year agreement between NHL and IIHF 

was entered into prior to 2005-2006 season (“New NHL-IIHF 

Agreement”).  After numerous negotiations with the NHL, the 

Russian Ice Hockey Federation did not agree to the proposed terms 

and did not sign the New NHL-IIHF Agreement, and thus is not a 

party to the New NHL-IIHF Agreement. 

 

23. Upon information and belief, since the Russian 

Ice Hockey Federation rejected the New NHL-IIHF Agreement, 

defendant NHL and its member clubs decided to play hardball with 

the Russian hockey clubs to punish them for the Russian Ice 
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Hockey Federation’s rejecting the New NHL-IIHF agreement and to 

force them to give in to the term of New NHL-IIHF Agreement and, 

with improper motive and intent and without legitimate 

justification and using improper means, decided to disregard 

contracts entered into between Russian hockey clubs and Russian 

hockey players, including the Contract here. 

 

24. In that regard, on or about August 2, 2006, 

defendant NHL issued a memorandum to all NHL clubs, including 

defendant Pittsburgh Penguins, regarding signing contracts with 

the Russian hockey players (“NHL Memorandum”)  Pursuant to the 

NHL Memorandum, the NHL clubs, including defendant Pittsburgh 

Penguins, were directed and instructed that they were free to 

sign NHL contracts with Russian hockey players under contract 

with Russian hockey clubs should the Russian hockey players 

secure “releases” pursuant to the Russian labor law. 

 

25. There is no legal requirement for the Russian Ice 

Hockey Federation to be a party to the New NHL-IIHF agreement.  

In the absence of an agreement to which the Russian Ice Hockey 

Federation is party, defendants are required by operation of law, 

however, to respect the individual player contracts of the 

individual Russian hockey clubs.  Instead, in response to HC 

Metallurg demands for defendants to cease and desist from using 
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Malkin’s services, the NHL’s counsel advised HC Metallurg’s 

counsel that “[s]hould RIHF [Russian Ice Hockey Federation] be 

prepared to join a new IIHF agreement with the NHL, we expect 

that such agreement may look to consider the circumstances of 

your client [HC Metallurg] with respect to Mr. Malkin”. 

 

26. At the same time, pursuant to the NHL Memorandum, 

the NHL clubs, including defendant Pittsburgh Penguins, are 

prohibited from negotiating directly with or paying a release fee 

of any kind to any Russian club, and that evidence establishing 

that an NHL club has negotiated a release or has otherwise paid 

any fees to Russian clubs for the release of any player, will 

subject such club to severe penalties, the same penalties as 

provided for in Article 26 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement 

between the NHL and NHL Players’ Association (“CBA”). 

 

27. The scheme described above, among the NHL, its 

member clubs, including defendant Pittsburgh Penguins, and the 

NHL Players’ Association (“NHLPA”) amounts to a contract, 

combination and conspiracy in restraint of trade in that the 

defendants and the NHLPA are engaged in group boycott and 

concerted refusal to deal with Russian hockey clubs regarding 

player transfers in violation of §1 of the Sherman Act and in 

that defendants and the NHLPA agreed to blatantly violate 
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contracts of Russian hockey clubs, including HC Metallurg’s 

Contract with Malkin, and the applicable Russian law by entering 

into contracts with Russian hockey players, including Malkin, 

while these players contracts with Russian hockey clubs were 

still in effect under the applicable Russian law, and while, as 

described herein, the “resignation” of Russian hockey players 

clearly does not release or relieve the players of their 

obligations to Russian hockey clubs. 

 

28. Indeed, the reference in the NHL Memorandum to the 

“releases” under the Russian Labor Law and instructions to the 

NHL clubs that they were “free” to sign Russian players who 

“obtained releases” under the Russian Labor Law is a scheme, 

pretense, subterfuge and a sham concocted to disregard the 

Russian professional hockey player’s contracts in that the 

Russian Labor Law, as described herein, and as determined by the 

Russian arbitration decisions, described herein, specifically 

does not apply to professional athletes and does not provide for 

any such “releases” for professional athletes. 

 

29. In furtherance of this scheme under which 

contracts between Russian hockey clubs and its players, 

including HC Metallurg’s contract with Malkin, are blatantly 

violated, and indeed to insure that such contracts will be 



 
11 

violated, NHL clubs are prohibited from dealing with Russian 

hockey clubs (and agreed not to deal with Russian hockey clubs) 

and are prohibited from negotiating directly with or paying a 

release fee of any kind to any Russian club.   

 

30. To further insure that this unlawful scheme and 

conspiracy are successful and is complied with by all NHL clubs, 

not participating in the scheme and conspiracy would subject NHL 

clubs, including defendants clubs, to severe penalties, the same 

penalties as provided for in the CBA. 

 

31. The scheme described above is a contract, 

combination and conspiracy, including but not limited to group 

boycott and concerted refusal to deal in violation of §1 of the 

Sherman Act, in that defendants agreed not to deal with the 

Russian clubs regarding player transfer.  This scheme is also 

used by defendants to induce the Russian hockey players, 

including Malkin, into entering into contract with defendants 

while Malkin’s contract with HC Metallurg are still in effect 

under the applicable Russian law, and while “resignation” of 

Malkin does not relieve him of their obligations to HC Metallurg. 

 

  32. From August 2006 to the present, HC Metallurg, on 

numerous occasions, notified defendants that the policy and 
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scheme outlined in the NHL Memorandum was improper and unlawful, 

that defendant Pittsburgh Penguins should immediately cease and 

desist from entering into any contracts with Malkin and that 

defendant NHL should immediately cease and desist from 

registering Malkin’s contract with Pittsburgh Penguins.   

 

33. Defendants disregarded and ignored HC Metallurg’s 

notices and demands referred to above. 

 

34. Since the restrictions and a scheme set forth in 

NHL Memorandum do not concern a mandatory subject of collective 

bargaining, such as wages, hours and conditions of employment, 

and directly affects and governs non-employees, and did not 

clearly result from arm's length negotiations, it is not immune 

from antitrust scrutiny. 

 
Injunctive Relief is Necessary and Appropriate in this Case 

 
35. HC Metallurg is entitled to and seeks injunctive 

relief and award of damages against defendants for defendants’ 

tortious interference with the contract between HC Metallurg and 

Malkin, for tortious interference with the contractual 

relationship between HC Metallurg and Malkin and for aiding and 

abetting Malkin in breaching his contract with HC Metallurg.  

 

36. Additionally, HC Metallurg is entitled to and 



 
13 

seeks injunctive relief and award of damages against defendants 

for violation of sections 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. §1, in 

that defendants’ conduct involves, among other things, group 

boycott and concerted refusal to deal with Russian hockey clubs, 

including plaintiff HC Metallurg, with anticompetitive motive 

and intent with respect to defendants' refusal to deal with 

Russian hockey clubs, including plaintiff HC Metallurg, that was 

the result of a conspiracy in restraint of trade or commerce, 

and that such refusal resulted from an unlawful agreement among 

defendants, and among defendants and NHLPA, and that HC 

Metallurg was directly injured by conduct of defendants.   

 

  37. Injunctive relief is particularly necessary and 

appropriate in this case, since money alone cannot replace the 

loss of a superior athlete to a professional sports franchise. 

 

Notices to Defendants 

  38. From September 1, 2006 to the present, HC 

Metallurg, on numerous occasions, notified defendants, Malkin’s 

agents and Malkin that HC Metallurg was a party to contract with 

Malkin that was in effect through April 30, 2007, and that HC 

Metallurg had the exclusive rights to Malkin’s services during 

the 2006-2007 hockey season, that entering into and even 

negotiating NHL contract with Malkin constitutes blatant and 

http://web2.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?tf=-1&rs=WLW6.09&fn=_top&sv=Split&tc=-1&findtype=L&docname=15USCAS1&db=1000546&vr=2.0&rp=%2ffind%2fdefault.wl&mt=NewYork
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deliberate tampering and interference with Metallurg’s Contract 

with Malkin, and Metallurg’s rights thereunder. 

 

  39. From August 2006 and the present, HC Metallurg and 

other Russian hockey clubs, on numerous occasions, notified 

defendants that “resignation” under section 80 of the Russian 

Labor Code did not apply to the Contract of a professional 

athlete, that under section 351 of the Russian Labor Code and 

section 26 of the Russian Sports Law professional athletes’ 

contracts are in effect until their expiration and that transfer 

of such professional athletes to other sports clubs, in Russia or 

abroad, requires consent of a Russian club and that the policy 

outlined in the NHL Memorandum was improper and unlawful. 

 

40. Between September 1, 2006 and the present, HC 

Metallurg, on numerous occasions, demanded from the NHL and 

Pittsburgh Penguins that they immediately cease and desist from 

any negotiations with Malkin and from entering into any contracts 

with Malkin.  HC Metallurg also demanded that the NHL immediately 

cease and desist from registering Malkin’s NHL contract with 

Pittsburgh Penguins, or any other NHL clubs.   

 

41. Defendants disregarded and ignored HC Metallurg’s 

notices and demands referred to above. 
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Arbitrators Uphold Plaintiff’s Contractual Rights 
 

42. Article 7 of Malkin’s Contract with HC Metallurg, 

provides in the event Malkin is transferred to any other club 

including a foreign one without the written consent of HC 

Metallurg, Malkin agrees that the award of the Arbitration 

Committee of the Russian Ice Hockey Federation (“Arbitration 

Committee”) prohibiting him from playing for any other club 

including a foreign club, shall have full force in Russia and in 

any foreign country.   

 

43. On August 25, 2006, HC Metallurg filed a 

Statements of Claim (“Arbitration Claims”) with the Arbitration 

Committee against Malkin.  The Arbitration Claims sought to 

enforce the Contract existing between HC Metallurg and Malkin, 

under which Malkin is contractually obligated to play 

professional hockey exclusively for HC Metallurg through the 

conclusion of the 2006-2007 hockey season.  By way of relief, the 

Claims sought an award prohibiting Malkin from playing 

professional hockey for any other club during 2006-2007 hockey 

season.  On August 25, 2006, copy of the Arbitration Claim 

against Malkin was delivered to Malkin. 

 

44. On September 6, 2006, the Arbitration Committee 
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convened an arbitration proceeding in accordance with its rules. 

Neither Malkin nor anyone on his behalf appeared at the 

arbitration hearing. 

 

45. At the arbitration hearings, on September 6, 2006, 

at HC Metallurg’s request, in order to give Malkin and his 

representatives more time to prepare and appear at the hearing, 

the Arbitration Committee adjourned the hearing to September 15, 

2006.   

 

46. On September 6, 2006, Malkin, his sports agents 

and defendants were notified of the new hearing date. 

 

47. On September 15, 2006, the Arbitration Committee 

again convened an arbitration proceeding in accordance with its 

rules. Neither Malkin nor anyone on his behalf appeared at the 

September 15, 2006 arbitration hearing.   

 

48. On September 15, 2006, in accordance with the 

Arbitration Committee’s rules the hearing was conducted in 

Malkin’s absence. 

 

49. After conclusion of the arbitration hearing, on 

September 15, upon consideration of the merits and in accordance 
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with its rules, the Arbitration Committee rendered short form 

arbitration Award in favor of HC Metallurg against Malkin (the 

“Award”).  The Award satisfied HC Metallurg’s claim and 

prohibited Malkin from playing professional hockey for any other 

hockey club in Russia or in any other country.   

 

50. On September 25, 2006, the Arbitration Committee 

issued a reasoned decision explaining the Award in favor of HC 

Metallurg and against Malkin (the “Decision and Award”).  By its 

terms, the Decision and Award satisfied HC Metallurg’s claim and 

prohibited Malkin from playing professional hockey for any other 

hockey club in Russia or in any other country.  In sum and 

substance, the Arbitration Committee has determined that section 

80 of the Russian Labor Code does not apply to termination of 

contracts by professional athletes, but rather, pursuant to 

section 351 of the same Russian Labor Code, applicable 

specifically to professional athletes (and certain other 

categories of professionals), termination of a contract and 

transfer of a professional athlete to another sports club are 

governed by Article 26 of the Russian Federal Law on Sports, 

pursuant to which professional athletes’ contracts are in effect 

until expiration of their term, and transfer of professional 

athletes to other sports clubs, in Russia or abroad, prior to 

expiration of the contract’s term requires consent of the Russian 
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club (HC Metallurg in this case). 

Arbitrators’ Decision is Consistent with  
Russian Law and its Official Commentaries  

 

51. The Arbitration Committee’s analysis and rulings 

are also consistent with the Commentaries to section 351 of the 

Russian Labor Code.  These official Commentaries, prepared by the 

officers of the Administration of the President of the Russia, 

Institute of Legislation and Comparative Law under the Russian 

Government, International Labor Organization and Moscow State 

Academy of Law, provide, in relevant parts, that under Article 26 

of the Russian Federal Law on Sports “in the event an athlete’s 

transfer to another physical culture and sports organization 

(sports club) takes place before the expiration of the Sports 

Activities Contract or if an athlete is in default of his 

obligations stipulated in the contract (if such provisions are 

provided for in the Sports Activities Contract), than such 

transfer is possible only by mutual agreement of physical culture 

and sports organizations (sports clubs)”, and that . . . “the 

rules referred to above constitute an exception from the general 

rule of termination of an employment agreement upon employee’s 

request/initiative (personal request), set by Article 80 of the 

Russian Federation Labor Code, which provides for the right of an 

employee to terminate the employment agreement by giving notice 

to the employer regarding such termination in writing two weeks 
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prior to termination.” 

Final Arbitration Awards Enjoin Malkin from Playing Professional 
Hockey for any Clubs other than HC Metallurg 
 

52. Malkin was permitted by the arbitration rules to 

appeal the Award to the Russian Arbitration Court for Sports not 

later than within 7 days of the issuance of the Awards.  Malkin 

did not pursue an appeal and the Award is now unalterably final.  

 

53. Decisions and Awards, among other things, held as 

follows: 

a. The contract between HC Metallurg and Malkin was entered into 

voluntarily pursuant to Russian law; 

b. Pursuant to the Contract, Malkin undertook obligation to 

fulfill contractual terms, including providing his services 

exclusively to HC Metallurg during the term of the contract 

and refraining from entering into contracts with any other 

club in Russia and abroad until conclusion of the contract at 

the end of the 2006-2007 season; 

c. Malkin breached his obligations to HC Metallurg by failing to 

obtain release from HC Metallurg prior to offering their 

services to other clubs; 

d. In accordance with section 351 of the Russian Labor Code, the 

Russian Labor Code is applicable to professional athletes 

subject to other federal laws and norms; 



 
20 

e. Transfer of a professional athlete from one club to another 

is thus governed not by the Labor Law, but rather by section 

26 of the Russian Federal Law on Sports, which provides that 

an athlete may transfer to another sports club upon 

expiration of the sports contract’s term and that in the 

event such transfer takes place prior to expiration of the 

sports contract’s term, such transfer may take place only 

with consent of both clubs;  

f. The arbitrators concluded that in leaving HC Metallurg, 

Malkin breached his obligations under the Contract and 

violated the provisions of the Russian Federal Law on Sports; 

g. The arbitrators enjoined Malkin from playing professional 

hockey for any club other than HC Metallurg through the 

conclusion of 2006/2007 hockey season. 

 

Defendants Disregarded Russian law and the Arbitration Award 

 

54. On September 15, 2006, HC Metallurg notified the 

defendants of the Award.  On September 26, 2006, HC Metallurg 

again notified the defendants of the Decision and Award, provided 

to defendants a copy of the Decisions and Awards and the summary 

of the holding described in paragraph 53 above, and again 

demanded that defendants respect HC Metallurg’s contractual 

rights and the Russian law, abide by the Decisions and Awards and 
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cease and desist from using Malkin’s services in the NHL. 

 

55. Upon information and belief, in September 2006, 

Pittsburgh Penguins nevertheless entered into a three-year 

contract with Malkin to play in the NHL starting with the 2006-

2007 season.  Upon information and belief, NHL nevertheless 

registered Malkin’s contract with Pittsburgh Penguins.  

Defendants disregarded and ignored HC Metallurg’s contractual 

rights, the applicable Russian law and the Arbitration Decision 

and Award referred to above. 

 

56. On October 4, 2006, HC Metallurg, in the attempt 

effort to avoid litigation, again demanded from defendants NHL 

and Pittsburgh Penguins that they respect HC Metallurg’s 

contractual rights, the principles of Russian law and the 

arbitration awards, and forego using Malkin’s services in 2006-

2007 hockey season.   

 

57. Defendants again disregarded HC Metallurg’s demand 

referred to above. 

 

HC Metallurg’s Rights with Respect to the Player’s Contract 

58. Pursuant to Malkin’s Contract with HC Metallurg, 

all parties to the Contract had an opportunity to discuss all 
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terms and obligations with their attorneys, agents and other 

representatives and the Contract was signed of his own free 

will.  The Contract was negotiated by and signed in the presence 

of Malkin’s Russian agent and his parents. 

59. Based on the paragraph 3.2.1 of the Contract, 

Malkin undertook obligations to provide his exclusive playing 

services, knowledge and skills only to HC Metallurg, to complete 

his Contract’s term, not to enter into other agreements with 

other hockey clubs and organizations in the Russian Federation 

and abroad for the entire term of the Contract and that he may 

enter into any other contracts with other hockey clubs in Russia 

or abroad exclusively upon release from his obligations by HC 

Metallurg. 

 

60. Pursuant to Par. 7.3 of the Contract, HC Metallurg 

and Malkin agree that the services provided by him as 

professional hockey player are of a unique character, the loss 

of which cannot be adequately compensated to HC Metallurg, and 

that HC Metallurg therefore shall have the right to demand and 

obtain injunction to enjoin Malkin from playing as a 

professional hockey player for any other club in the Russia or 

any other country.  
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61. Pursuant to Article 203 of the Regulations on 

2006-2007 Men’s Ice Hockey Russia Championships, a professional 

hockey player may transfer from one hockey club to another only 

upon expiration of the Contract between the professional hockey 

player and the hockey club; upon reaching the mutual agreement 

between the professional hockey player and the club; or upon 

reaching the mutual agreement between two hockey clubs (present 

and future) and a professional hockey player regarding his 

transfer to another hockey club before the expiration of the 

Contract term. 

 

62. Having signed the Contract, Malkin thereby assumed 

the obligations to play professional hockey exclusively for the 

HC Metallurg, not to enter into any contracts with other hockey 

clubs in Russia or abroad and to enter into any contract with 

other clubs only after being released by HC Metallurg from his 

obligations provided for in the Contract.  

 

63. HC Metallurg fully complied with its obligations 

to Malkin and has not released Malkin from his obligations under 

the Contract with HC Metallurg.   

 

64. Malkin breached his Contract with HC Metallurg, 

have failed to comply with the Award, entered into contract with 
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and continue to play hockey for Pittsburgh Penguins in violation 

of the Award and in breach of his contractual obligations to HC 

Metallurg.   

 

First Cause of Action 

(Tortious Interference with Contract) 

 

65. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every 

allegation set forth in paragraphs 1 through 64 herein, as if 

fully set forth herein at length. 

 

66. As alleged herein, valid contract exist between 

HC Metallurg and Evgeny Malkin. 

 

67. The defendants knew or should have known of the 

contract between HC Metallurg and Evgeny Malkin. 

 

68. By signing contract with and playing hockey for 

defendants, Evgeny Malkin has breached the Contract.   

 

69. Defendants' intentionally induced breach of 

Malkin’s contract with HC Metallurg. 
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  70. HC Metallurg suffered damages as a result of 

defendants’ conduct.  By reason of the foregoing, plaintiff has 

been damaged in the amount to be proven at trial. 

 

71. The services provided by Malkin as professional 

hockey player are of a unique character, the loss of which cannot 

be adequately compensated to HC Metallurg, and HC Metallurg is 

entitled to an injunction enjoining defendants from using 

Malkin’s services in 2006/2007 season. 

 

72. By reason of the foregoing, plaintiff is entitled 

to the injunctive relief enjoining defendants from using Malkin’s 

services until the conclusion of 2006-2007 hockey season.   

 

Second Cause of Action 

(Aiding and Abetting a Breach of Fiduciary Duty) 

 

73. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every 

allegation set forth in paragraphs 1 through 72 herein, as if 

fully set forth herein at length. 

 

74. As alleged herein, valid contract exist between 

HC Metallurg and Evgeny Malkin. 
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75. The defendants knew or should have known of the 

contract between HC Metallurg and Evgeny Malkin. 

 

76. As a result of his contract with HC Metallurg, 

Evgeny Malkin owes HC Metallurg a duty of undivided loyalty. 

 

77. By breaching their contract with HC Metallurg and 

continuing such breach, Evgeny Malkin has breached and is 

continuing to breach his a duty of undivided loyalty HC 

Metallurg. 

 

78. Evgeny Malkin’s breach has caused and is 

continuing to cause injury to HC Metallurg. 

 

79. Defendants have provided knowing and substantial 

assistance to Evgeny Malkin in breaching Evgeny Malkin’s duty of 

undivided loyalty HC Metallurg. 

80. HC Metallurg suffered damages as a result of 

defendants’ conduct. 

 



 
27 

81. By reason of the foregoing, plaintiff has been 

damaged in the amount to be proven at trial. 

 

82. The services provided by Evgeny Malkin as a 

professional hockey player are of a unique character, the loss of 

which cannot be adequately compensated to HC Metallurg, and HC 

Metallurg is entitled to an injunction enjoining defendants from 

using Evgeny Malkin’s services in 2006/2007 season. 

 

83. By reason of the foregoing, plaintiff is entitled 

to the injunctive relief enjoining defendants from using Evgeny 

Malkin’s services until the conclusion of 2006-2007 hockey 

season.   

 

Third Cause of Action 

(Tortious Interference with Business Relationship) 

 

84. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every 

allegation set forth in paragraphs 1 through 83 herein, as if 

fully set forth herein at length. 

 

85. Defendants were acting with the improper motive 

in interfering with the business relationships between HC 
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Metallurg and Evgeny Malkin. 

 

86. Defendants intentionally interfered and continue 

to interfere with business relationship between HC Metallurg and 

Evgeny Malkin. 

 

87. Valid business relationships exist between HC 

Metallurg and Evgeny Malkin. 

 

88. Defendants knew or should have known of such 

business relationships between HC Metallurg and Evgeny Malkin. 

 

89. Defendants, in intentionally inducing and causing 

termination of business relationships between HC Metallurg and 

Evgeny Malkin, have caused damages to HC Metallurg. 

90. By reason of the foregoing, plaintiff has been 

damaged in the amount to be proven at trial. 

 

91. The services provided by Evgeny Malkin as a 

professional hockey player are of a unique character, the loss of 



 
29 

which cannot be adequately compensated to HC Metallurg, and HC 

Metallurg is entitled to an injunction enjoining defendants from 

using Evgeny Malkin’s services in 2006/2007 season. 

 

92. By reason of the foregoing, plaintiff is entitled 

to the injunctive relief enjoining defendants from using Evgeny 

Malkin’s services until the conclusion of 2006-2007 season.   

 

Fourth Cause of Action 
(Misappropriation) 

 

93. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every 

allegation set forth in paragraphs 1 through 92 herein, as if 

fully set forth herein at length. 

 

94. Upon information and belief, defendants without 

plaintiff’s permission, wrongfully misappropriated plaintiff’s 

rights under the contract with Evgeny Malkin, and continue to 

retain and benefit from such rights and Evgeny Malkin’s services 

so misappropriated. 

95. By reason of the foregoing, plaintiff has been 

damaged in the amount to be proven at trial. 

 

96. The services provided by Evgeny Malkin as a 

professional hockey player are of a unique character, the loss of 
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which cannot be adequately compensated to HC Metallurg, and HC 

Metallurg is entitled to an injunction enjoining defendants from 

using Evgeny Malkin’s services in 2006/2007 season. 

 

97. By reason of the foregoing, plaintiff is entitled 

to the injunctive relief enjoining defendants from using Evgeny 

Malkin’s services until the conclusion of 2006-2007 season.  

 
Fifth Cause of Action 
(Unjust Enrichment) 

 

98. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every 

allegation set forth in paragraphs 1 through 97 herein, as if 

fully set forth herein at length. 

 

99. Defendants, having wrongfully retained and 

continuing to retain the benefits of plaintiff’s rights under the 

contract with Evgeny Malkin, have been unjustly enriched at the 

plaintiff’s expense and continue to be so unjustly enriched. 

100. Upon information and belief, defendants’ retaining 

benefits of plaintiff’s rights with respect to and services of 

Evgeny Malkin without plaintiff’s permission is against equity 

and good conscience. 

 

101. By reason of the foregoing, plaintiff demands that 

defendants disgorge the value of any and all benefits that 
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defendants received or obtained from plaintiff’s rights with 

respect to and services of Evgeny Malkin. 

 

102. The services provided by Evgeny Malkin as a 

professional hockey player are of a unique character, the loss of 

which cannot be adequately compensated to HC Metallurg, and HC 

Metallurg is entitled to an injunction enjoining defendants from 

using Evgeny Malkin’s services in 2006/2007 season. 

 

103. By reason of the foregoing, plaintiff is entitled 

to the injunctive relief enjoining defendants from using Evgeny 

Malkin’s services until the conclusion of 2006-2007 season.  

 

Sixth Cause of Action 
(Conversion) 

 

104. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every 

allegation set forth in paragraphs 1 through 103 herein, as if 

fully set forth herein at length. 

 

105. Upon information and belief, defendants without 

plaintiff’s permission, wrongfully misappropriated plaintiff’s 

rights under the contract with Evgeny Malkin, and continue to 

retain and benefit from such rights and Evgeny Malkin’s services 

so misappropriated. 
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106. By reason of the foregoing, plaintiff has been 

damaged in the amount to be proven at trial. 

 

107. The services provided by Evgeny Malkin as a 

professional hockey player are of a unique character, the loss of 

which cannot be adequately compensated to HC Metallurg, and HC 

Metallurg is entitled to an injunction enjoining defendants from 

using Evgeny Malkin’s services in 2006/2007 season. 

 

108. By reason of the foregoing, plaintiff is entitled 

to the injunctive relief enjoining defendants from using Evgeny 

Malkin’s services until the conclusion of 2006-2007 season.  . 

 

Seventh Cause of Action 
 

(Violation of §1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. §1,  
and §2 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. §15) 

 
109. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every 

allegation set forth in paragraphs 1 through 108 herein, as if 

fully set forth herein at length. 

 

110. Defendants entered into the contract, combination 

and conspiracy in restrain of trade in agreeing to violate HC 

Metallurg’s rights under the contract with Evgeny Malkin and the 

applicable Russian law and by being engaged in group boycott and 
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concerted refusal to deal with Russian hockey clubs, including 

plaintiff HC Metallurg, with anticompetitive motive, and HC 

Metallurg was directly injured by conduct of defendants.  

 

111. The restraint of trade in this case has 

predictable and pernicious anticompetitive effect, and limited 

potential for procompetitive benefit, and must therefore be 

deemed unlawful per se. 

 

112. The scheme prohibiting NHL clubs to negotiate with 

and compensate Russian hockey clubs for the services of Russian 

hockey players is an unreasonable restraint on trade, in 

violation of Sherman Act 

 

113. The scheme prohibiting NHL clubs to negotiate and 

compensate Russian hockey clubs for the services of Russian 

hockey players constituted “group boycott” that restrains trade 

in relevant market by denying entry to Russian hockey clubs. 

 

114. There is a direct causal connection between an 

antitrust violation here and the alleged harm suffered by the 

plaintiff. 

 

115. The relevant market is the NHL market for services 
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of professional hockey players.  

 

116. NHL is a premium hockey league in the North 

America and worldwide. 

 

117. NHL and its member clubs and NHLPA bar an entire 

class of potential sellers, Russian hockey clubs, which harms 

competition in the absence of an alternative comparable buyers of 

the services of the Russian hockey players. 

 

118. By reason of the foregoing, plaintiff has been 

damaged in the amount to be proven at trial. 

119. By reason of the foregoing, plaintiff is entitled 

to judgment against defendants for damages in the amount to be 

proven at trial, and treble damages and attorneys’ fees, interest 

and costs, as provided under §1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. §1 

and §2 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. §15. 

 

120. The services provided by Evgeny Malkin as a 

professional hockey player are of a unique character, the loss of 

which cannot be adequately compensated to HC Metallurg, and HC 

Metallurg is entitled to an injunction enjoining defendants from 

using Evgeny Malkin’s services in 2006/2007 season. 
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121. By reason of the foregoing, plaintiff is entitled 

to a preliminary and permanent injunction requiring defendants to 

cease and desist from violation of §1 of the Sherman Act, 15 

U.S.C. §1, and §2 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. §15, and 

enjoining defendants from using Evgeny Malkin’s services for the 

duration of Evgeny Malkin’s contract with plaintiff though the 

conclusion of 2006-2007 season. 

 
WHEREFORE, plaintiff demands: 

 
(a) On the first cause of action, judgment against defendants for 
damages in the amount to be proven at trial, and preliminary and 
permanent injunction enjoining defendants from using services of 
Evgeny Malkin for the duration of Evgeny Malkin’s contract with 
plaintiff though the conclusion of 2006-2007 season, together 
with attorneys’ fees, interest and costs, as well as such other 
and further relief as this Court deems just and proper; 
 
(b) On the second cause of action, judgment against defendants 
for damages in the amount to be proven at trial, and preliminary 
and permanent injunction enjoining defendants from using services 
of Evgeny Malkin for the duration of Evgeny Malkin’s contract 
with plaintiff though the conclusion of 2006-2007 season, 
together with attorneys’ fees, interest and costs, as well as 
such other and further relief as this Court deems just and 
proper; and 
 
(c) One the third cause of action, judgment against defendants 
for damages in the amount to be proven at trial, and preliminary 
and permanent injunction enjoining defendants from using services 
of Evgeny Malkin for the duration of Evgeny Malkin’s contract 
with plaintiff though the conclusion of 2006-2007 season, 
together with attorneys’ fees, interest and costs, as well as 
such other and further relief as this Court deems just and 
proper; and 
 
(d) On the fourth cause of action, judgment against defendants 
for damages in the amount to be proven at trial, and preliminary 
and permanent injunction enjoining defendants from using services 
of Evgeny Malkin for the duration of Evgeny Malkin’s contract 
with plaintiff though the conclusion of 2006-2007 season, 

http://web2.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?tf=-1&rs=WLW6.09&fn=_top&sv=Split&tc=-1&findtype=L&docname=15USCAS1&db=1000546&vr=2.0&rp=%2ffind%2fdefault.wl&mt=NewYork
http://web2.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?tf=-1&rs=WLW6.09&fn=_top&sv=Split&tc=-1&findtype=L&docname=15USCAS1&db=1000546&vr=2.0&rp=%2ffind%2fdefault.wl&mt=NewYork


 
36 

together with attorneys’ fees, interest and costs, as well as 
such other and further relief as this Court deems just and 
proper; and  
 
(e) On the fifth cause of action, judgment against defendants for 
damages in the amount to be proven at trial, and preliminary and 
permanent injunction enjoining defendants from using services of 
Evgeny Malkin for the duration of Evgeny Malkin’s contract with 
plaintiff though the conclusion of 2006-2007 season, together 
with attorneys’ fees, interest and costs, as well as such other 
and further relief as this Court deems just and proper; and 
 
(f) On the sixth cause of action, judgment against defendants for 
damages in the amount to be proven at trial, and preliminary and 
permanent injunction enjoining defendants from using services of 
Evgeny Malkin for the duration of Evgeny Malkin’s contract with 
plaintiff though the conclusion of 2006-2007 season, together 
with attorneys’ fees, interest and costs, as well as such other 
and further relief as this Court deems just and proper; and 
 
 
(g) On the seventh cause of action, judgment against defendants 
for damages in the amount to be proven at trial, treble damages 
and attorneys’ fees, interest and costs, as provided under the 
Sherman Act and Clayton Act, and preliminary and permanent 
injunction requiring defendants to cease and desist from 
violation of §1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. §1, and §2 of the 
Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. §15, and enjoining defendants from using 
services of Evgeny Malkin for the duration of Evgeny Malkin’s 
contract with plaintiff though the conclusion of 2006-2007 
season, as well as such other and further relief as this Court 
deems just and proper; and 
 
Dated: New York, New York 

October 19, 2006 
 

Alexander Berkovich Esquire 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
230 East 30th Street 
Room 7-G 
New York, New York 10016 
tel. (917) 282-7752 
 

 
 
 
    BY: ________________/s/___________________ 
     Alexander Berkovich, Esq. (AB-2677) 
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